FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/23/2019 3:09 PM

Supreme Court No. 97255-9

Court of Appeals No. 35549-7-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

RICARDO DIMAS, Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Counsel for Petitioner Dimas PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ricardo Ochoa Dimas, appellant below, petitions this Court for the relief designated in Part II.

II. DECISION OF LOWER COURT

Mr. Dimas seeks review of the unpublished decision *State v. Ricardo Ochoa Dimas*, issued April 23, 2019 by Division Three of the Court of Appeals. The Court concluded the trial court properly gave a first aggressor instruction, the evidence was sufficient to sustain the convictions, and the State's attorney did not commit misconduct. A copy of the Court's opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. A first aggressor instruction is properly given under specified facts.

 Where video evidence shows conclusively that Mr. Dimas did not raise his weapon prior to being assaulted by another, and witness testimony did not establish anyone saw the weapon, the trial court improperly gave a first aggressor instruction. The error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
- B. The State did not meet its burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Dimas did not act lawfully in self-defense.

C. A prosecutor commits prejudicial misconduct by misstating facts and law during closing argument.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the evening, of January 22, 2016, Tabatha Bevin ("Bevins")

Christina Coronado ("Coronado") and Christina Sampson-Jones ("Jones")

met with Leticia Diaz ("Diaz") in a local store parking lot to give her some clothing. RP 71-72, 123. Diaz asked for a ride to the home of Anna

Hargett ("Hargett"). RP 122. Hargett was the aunt of April Jackson

("Jackson"). RP 62. Bevins agreed to take her to Hargett's home. RP 146.

They intended to purchase drugs from Hargett. RP 72. Bevins, Diaz,

Coronado, and Jones entered Hargett's home. Exh. 2¹.

The home consisted of a garage space set up like a studio apartment. RP 65. There was a man door to enter and leave the garage, which opened into an alleyway. RP 68. The garage occupants shared a bathroom with the main house. RP 99. The owner of the main home, Lisa Donaldson, had set up a video surveillance system that pointed directly at the garage man door. RP 100.

¹ The DVD surveillance video is State's Exhibit 2. The times referred to are the individual clips and the number of seconds from the beginning of that clip. Found at 8:26 pm- 8:30 pm.

Once inside, the women smoked the meth Hargett had in the home. RP 126. Sometime after 8:30 p.m. Bevins and Coronado asked to buy heroin for Coronado. RP 76, 147. Hargett made a call and left to purchase \$100 of heroin. RP 76, 148.

When she returned, Coronado and Bevins paid her the \$100. RP 76-77, 148, 170, 208. Coronado tested the drug and said the heroin was not good. She wanted her money back. RP 77, 128, 170, 208. Hargett texted the seller who refused to return the money. RP 129, 209. Diaz told them it was not "like K-Mart or Walmart," and they could not get a refund. RP 76. Wanting to keep the peace between the parties, she offered to repay the \$100 to Coronado and Bevins, within a few days. RP 77-78, 129. After a heated argument Jones, Bevins, and Coronado left at 9:07 p.m. RP 78-79, 129-130, 171.

Diaz and Jackson stayed at Hargett's. Diaz reported that as the women left, someone said "It's not over yet...we'll be back." RP 78.

However, Jackson said she did not remember anyone saying they were going to come back and had no reason to believe the women would return.

RP 225.

The women drove several blocks to Dimas's mother's home, where Dimas was getting ready to leave after working on his mother's home that day. RP 150, 171, 309. Dimas lived in a different part of town,

but always carried a gun when he went to his mother's neighborhood because it was a violent area of town. RP 313.

Bevins told Dimas, her friend of many years, that Coronado was sick, they had tried to buy heroin for her, and it wasn't good. RP 307, 311. Dimas's friend, Andreas, who had been helping him remodel the home, said he knew Diaz and she would "make it right." RP 312-313. Bevins said Dimas did not sound aggressive but told her this was a neighborhood where everyone knew each other; it was his neighborhood. RP 151. She said it did not sound like he intended to threaten or bully anyone. RP 151.

Dimas did not think there would be any danger, because they were all women. RP 315. He and Andreas drove to Hargett's in a separate car from Bevins, Coronado, and Jones. RP 314. They arrived in the alleyway outside Hargett's garage apartment at approximately 9:36 p.m. (Exh. 2.at 9:36:54). Everyone but Coronado got out of the cars. RP 173.

At 9:36 p.m. Bevins approached the door and knocked twice.

(Exh.2 at 9:36:54 and 7 seconds); RP 134, 152. Twenty seconds later she knocked a second time. Exh. 2. Dimas stood off to one side. Exh. 2. Diaz answered the door at 9:37:46. Bevins asked her to "make it right." RP 133, 152. Diaz testified Dimas said, "You want to rip off my best friend? You want to do her fucking dirty?" RP 83. However, the surveillance tape

does not show Dimas talking to Diaz, but rather, with Bevins. (Exh. 2 9:37:46 at 27-28 seconds).

Diaz and Bevins argued, and Jackson opened the door to get Diaz back inside (Exh. 2 9:38:39 and 7 seconds); RP 211. Jackson joined in the argument and turned to Dimas and said, "Who in the --- are you?" RP 211. She said Dimas just stood there, not saying anything. RP 236, 239.

Jackson testified she was angry with Bevins and their argument got increasingly louder. RP 235. They argued for about 20 seconds before Hargett came out of the door. (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 20 seconds). Jackson testified she told the group to leave in the 20-second encounter. RP 211.

As Hargett emerged alongside Jackson, Dimas stepped to the side, away from them. (Exh. 2 9:38:38 at 21 seconds). Jackson banged on the wall where Dimas had previously been standing. (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 21 seconds). Less than two seconds later, Hargett stepped in front of Jackson, and as she moved toward Dimas, she raised an ax as if to strike him. RP 240; (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 22-23 seconds).

Bevins heard Hargett say she was "going to take care of these mother fuckers and to get the fuck out of here." RP 136. She saw Dimas back up as Hargett raised and cocked the ax. Bevins was afraid of Hargett because she did not know what she was going to do. RP 156-157. She heard Dimas tell Hargett to back up, or he would "go off on her," but

Hargett continued to move forward. RP 137, 158. Bevins saw Hargett swing the ax. RP 137. Jackson did not see the ax until it was in midair. RP 240.

Dimas testified that as the arguing escalated between the women, he saw Hargett come to the door. He heard someone say, "She has an ax." RP 320. As Jackson came toward him and pounded on the wall, he moved back, and put his hand on his gun². RP 321.

He said that after Jackson pounded on the wall, Hargett stepped forward, yelled "Get the fuck out of here" and raised the ax toward him. RP 337; (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 22 seconds). Dimas stumbled backward and defensively held his arm up. (Exh.2: 9:38:39 at 23 seconds).

Within two seconds of Hargett's attack, Dimas raised his weapon and fired toward Hargett. (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 24 seconds). The bullet went through both Hargett and Diaz. RP 216. From the time Dimas arrived at the alleyway until the time Hargett was shot was about two minutes and five seconds. Exh. 2. Hargett died about 30 minutes later. CP 5. Diaz was treated for a gunshot wound to the neck. RP 87. Yakima County Prosecutors charged Dimas and the matter proceeded to a jury trial. CP 50-51.

² No witness reported seeing Dimas holding his gun; he deliberately did not point it or raise it. RP 322.

The defense theory of the case was that Dimas acted in self-defense and his words alone were insufficient to support a first aggressor jury instruction. RP 6, 369. Dimas objected to a first aggressor instruction. RP 372. The State contended that Dimas's presence in the alleyway was a "malicious trespass," and, therefore, the first aggressor instruction was appropriate. RP 370.

The court agreed that evidence of a trespass was mixed but believed that Dimas and the others had been told "repeatedly to leave." The court concluded there was some evidence that Dimas was the person who started the fight." RP 372-373. Over defense objection the court gave a first aggressor instruction. RP 368; CP 132. The court also gave a defense of self instruction, and a "no duty to retreat" jury instruction. CP 119, 127, 129-130.

During closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

When you're looking through your jury instructions, you're going to see if this was necessary force. Even if you don't believe that he was the primary aggressor in this case, he still needs to prove that he was using the amount of force necessary to protect himself.

RP 397 (Emphasis added).

Defense counsel objected, and the court told the jury, "There was a misstatement of the law there. The burden of proof is on the state, including the burden to prove that the act was not lawful." RP 397-398.

The prosecutor went on:

Ladies and gentlemen, having viewed the video several times, it's your job to decide whether or not this was the necessary force in shooting Anna Hargett. *The state's contention is he could have left. He could have walked away*.

RP 398-399.

Defense counsel again objected, citing, "The law says there is no duty to retreat or any of that." RP 399. The court responded:

Counsel's remarks and statements are argument. They aren't evidence. The jury will need to discern the evidence that it has heard in the course of the trial and apply the law to those facts and reach a verdict in that fashion.

RP 399.

The prosecutor stated:

Now, reading this instruction clearly, obviously any of these other defenses of self-defense are not available if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Dimas was the one who provoked the attack. The evidence has been shown on the screen a number of times. People are telling Mr. Dimas to leave emphatically. People are cussing at each other. They don't want him or any of those people to be there.

In response, you can see he brings out his firearm. He makes no effort to leave. Would it be reasonable to believe that that would provoke a violent response from a homeowner that's telling you to leave? The state's contention is that it is.

RP 400-401. (Emphasis added).

The third is that the slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would do under the same or similar conditions as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to him at the time of and prior to the incident. Again, this is somewhat redundant of a similar instruction we discussed whether or not this is the reasonable action. The state's contention is that it's not reasonable when you have an opportunity to leave.

RP 403-404. (Emphasis added).

Mr. Dimas was convicted on all counts. CP 38-42; 376-77. He made a timely appeal. CP 387-396.

The Court of Appeals held the trial court properly gave the first aggressor instruction, and the no duty to retreat standard did not apply to Mr. Dimas because the limited license as a visitor to the front door area had been revoked. And because he drew his firearm in a manner likely to provoke an aggressive response, he had a duty to retreat. *Slip Op.* at 7.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should address the issues raised in Mr. Dimas's petition because they raise constitutional issues of due process under the Washington State Constitution and the U.S. Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

A. A First Aggressor Jury Instruction Prevents A Jury From Considering Whether The State Has Proved Beyond A Reasonable Doubt That The Defendant Did Not Act In Self-Defense. When It Is Erroneously Given, It Implicates A Defendant's Constitutional Rights.

"An error affecting a claim of self-defense is constitutional in nature and cannot be deemed harmless unless it is deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 497, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983). The error here went to the heart of the case: whether Mr. Dimas justifiably used a weapon when he was assaulted by Hargett with an ax. The instructional error is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

An individual may use deadly force in self-defense if he reasonably believes he is in danger of imminent harm, even if he is not in actual danger. RCW 9A.16.050. Such force is lawful if the defendant did not instigate or provoke the confrontation, and that conflict would induce a reasonable person, considering all the facts and circumstances known to the defendant, to believe there was imminent danger of great bodily harm about to be inflicted. *State v. Janes*, 121 Wn.2d 220, 240, 850 P.2d 495 (1993).

A first aggressor instruction is not favored; it nullifies a defendant's legitimate right to self-defense, and courts are cautioned to use care in giving them. *State v. Kidd*, 57 Wn. App. 95, 100, 786 P.2d 847

(1990). In 1999, the Washington Supreme Court wisely reasoned "Few situations come to mind where the necessity for an aggressor instruction is warranted. The theories of the case can be sufficiently argued and understood by the jury without such an instruction." *State v. Riley,* 137 Wn.2d 904, 909, 910 n.2, 976 P.2d 624 (1999).

A first aggressor instruction is proper where (1) the jury can reasonably determine from the evidence that the defendant provoked the fight; (2) the evidence conflicts as to whether the defendant's conduct provoked the fight; or (3) the evidence shows the defendant made the first move by drawing a weapon. *State v. Anderson*, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89, 180 P.3d 885 (2008). In other words, the defendant must undertake some intentional act that could reasonably be likely to provoke a belligerent response.

The State's theory was that Mr. Dimas provoked Hargett into swinging an ax at him either because he was a "malicious trespasser3" or because he had a firearm at his side. The facts of the case do not stand up to the theories.

³ RCW 9A.04.110(12) defines maliciously as having evil intent, wish, or design to vex, annoy, or injure another person. Malice may be inferred from an act done in willful disregard of the rights of another, or an act wrongfully done without just cause or excuse, or an act or omission of

duty betraying a willful disregard of social duty.

11

Diaz testified she never told the group to leave. RP 85. Jackson argued with the group and testified she probably told them to leave a couple of times in the 20 second encounter. RP 211-212. Mr. Dimas testified that Hargett was the only one who told them to leave. RP 337. But, within seconds she raised the ax.

Mr. Dimas's presence outside the door was not as a malicious trespasser. Even if Mr. Dimas's presence could conceivably be considered "malicious", Ms. Hargett's intentional act of swinging an ax at him was not justified. *See State v. Bland*, 128 Wn. App. 511, 116 P.3d 428 (2005); *State v. Bea*, 162 Wn. App. 570, 254 P.3d 948 (2011).

Mr. Dimas did not knock on the door⁴. He never entered the garage. He stood off to one side. He did not argue with Diaz. (Exh.2 9:37:46). He did not argue with Jackson and barely responded to her when she asked who he was. (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 15 seconds). As the conflict between the women escalated, he stepped to the side and away from Jackson as she approached him. He put his hand on his gun but did not raise it, point it, or threaten with it. RP 321; Exh. 2. He reported he deliberately did not point it or raise it. RP 322. The video camera captured

⁴ Bevins knocked on the door two different times, twenty seconds apart. The video shows she did not pound on the door either time. Exh.2 9:36:54 at 6 seconds and again 20 seconds later.

his movement of holding the gun at his side, but no witness reported seeing the gun.

Mr. Dimas stood in the same place when Hargett stepped forward toward him. He told her to back up, she yelled, and raised the ax to swing at him. RP 337, (Exh. 2 9:38:39 at 22 seconds). One second later, Mr. Dimas stumbled backward and defensively held up his arm. (Exh.2: 9:38:30 at 23 seconds). At 9:38:39 at 24 seconds, Mr. Dimas raised his weapon and fired toward Hargett in response to her attack.

The instruction was prejudicial because it nullified Mr. Dimas's claim of self-defense, effectively and improperly removing it from the jury's consideration. *State v. Douglas*, 128 Wn. App. 555, 563, 116 P.3d 1012 (2005).

To prove a constitutional error "harmless", the State bears the burden of showing that any reasonable fact-finder would have reached the same result absent the error "and where the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. Where the error is not harmless, the defendant is entitled to a new trial. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). Here, the prejudicial instructional error requires reversal. *State v. Townsend*, 142 Wn.2d 838, 848, 15 P.3d 145 (2001).

B. The State Did Not Disprove Beyond A Reasonable Doubt Mr. Dimas Lawfully Acted In Self-Defense.

Due process rights, guaranteed under both the Washington

Constitution and the United States Constitution, require the state to prove

every element of a crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re*Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed. 368 (1970). Sufficiency of
the evidence is a question of constitutional magnitude. *State v Baeza*, 100

Wn.2d 487,488, 670 P.2d 646 (1983).

Where, as here, a claim of self-defense is made, the absence of self-defense becomes another element of offense, which the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Acosta*, 101 Wn.2d 612, 615-16, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984). A self-defense claim is rooted in the right of every citizen to reasonably defend himself against an unwarranted attack. *Janes*, 121 Wn.2d at 237.

The issue here is the caveat that evidence of self-defense must be assessed from the viewpoint of a reasonably prudent person, "knowing all the defendant knows and seeing all the defendant sees." *State v. Woods*, 138 Wn. App. 191, 198, 156 P.3d 309 (2007). Mr. Dimas knew the neighborhood was a violent one. He knew Hargett sold drugs. He knew the women had used methamphetamine about an hour earlier. He knew the situation had escalated from a loud argument to one that was suddenly

unpredictable and violent. He warned Hargett to back off. Instead, she stepped forward and raised the ax toward him.

The surveillance video showed that in the second it took him to regain his balance and Hargett to bring the ax down, she continued to yell at him. She did not back up nor did she drop the ax. Mr. Dimas had no assurance she was not going to do a follow-up swing or hurl it at him. Deadly force may only be used in self-defense if the defendant reasonably believed he was threatened with death or great personal injury. *State v. Walden*, 131 Wn.2d 469, 474-75, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). Mr. Dimas fired his weapon one time within 2 seconds of Hargett's attack. Mr. Dimas was justified in defending himself.

C. The Prosecutor Committed Flagrant Prejudicial Misconduct Incurable By A Trial Court's Instruction In Response To The Objection.

In closing argument, the prosecutor misstated the law regarding the burden of proof. RP 397. The prosecutor told the jury that even if it did not believe Mr. Dimas was the primary aggressor, "he still needs to prove that he was using the amount of force that was necessary to protect himself." RP 397. This was a gross misstatement of the law. Once Mr. Dimas met his burden of proving sufficient evidence for the claim of self-defense, negating intent, the burden shifted to the State to disprove that claim. *Acosta*, 101Wn.2d at 617.

Where a prosecutor makes an argument contrary to settled law, it is flagrant, prejudicial misconduct and incurable by a trial court's instruction in response to an objection. *State v. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. 677, 685, 243 P.3d 936 (2010). Reducing the State's burden by impermissibly shifting it to the defendant is a violation of a defendant's due process rights. *Id.* at 686.

The prosecutor further misstated the law when he told the jury that Mr. Dimas "could have left" and "had an opportunity to leave". RP 398, 404. The objectionable remarks were part of the State's theory that Mr. Dimas was a "malicious trespasser," justifying Hargett's use of the ax and negating Mr. Dimas's right to defend himself. The prosecutor's statement to the jury advanced a theory that when Mr. Dimas stood outside a door while the women argued and Hargett eventually came outside to tell them to leave, amounted to Mr. Dimas having no right to be there previously.

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