FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/6/2019 4:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97255-9

COA. 35549-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

RICARDO OCHOA DIMAS, Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), Dimas must show that the decision presents a significant question of constitutional interest that should be decided by this Court. He has failed to meet that burden.

A. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the first aggressor instruction was appropriate where Dimas, during a heated argument over a drug deal, refused to leave after repeated requests and displayed a firearm.

Jury instructions are proper if "substantial evidence supports them, they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, and, when read as a whole, they properly inform the jury of the applicable law." *State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 647, 251 P.3d 253 (2011). If a party proposes an instruction that properly states the law and is supported by the evidence, it is reversible error to refuse to give the proposed instruction. *Id*.

A first aggressor instruction may be issued in circumstances where "(1) the jury can reasonably determine from the evidence that the defendant provoked the fight, (2) the evidence conflicts as to whether the defendant's conduct provoked the fight, or (3) the evidence shows that the defendant made the first move by drawing a weapon." *State v. Anderson*, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89, 180 P.3d 885 (2008). To meet this obligation, the State need only produce some evidence that Dimas was the aggressor to meet its burden of production. *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909-10, 976 P.2d 624 (1999).

The provoking act must be intentional and one that a "jury could reasonably assume would provoke a belligerent response by the victim." *State v.*

Wasson, 54 Wn. App. 156, 159, 772 P.2d 1039 (quoting *State v. Arthur*, 42 Wn. App. 120, 124, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985)), *review denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1014 (1989)). The unlawful act constituting the provocation need not be the actual striking of a first blow. *State v. Hawkins*, 89 Wash. 449, 154 P. 827 (1916). A trespass may support the giving of an aggressor instruction as the owner of properly may lawfully use reasonable force to expel a malicious trespasser. *State v. Bea*, 162 Wn. App. 570, 578, 254 P.3d 948, *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1003 (2011).

Whether sufficient evidence justifies an initial aggressor instruction is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Id.* at 577. Courts review the evidence supporting a first aggressor instruction in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Wingate*, 155 Wn.2d 817, 823 n.1, 122 P.3d 908 (2005).

Here, the first aggressor instruction provided by the trial court mirrored WPIC 16.04. It stated:

No person may, by any intentional *act* reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense and thereupon kill, use, offer, or attempt to use force upon or toward another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense is not available as a defense.

CP 132 (emphasis added), WPIC 16.04.

To begin with, the first aggressor instruction may be issued in circumstances where the jury can reasonably determine from the evidence that the defendant provoked the fight. *Anderson*, 144 Wn. App. at 89. Here, the facts

were sufficient for a jury to reasonably determine that Dimas provoked the fight. He and four other individuals went to the victim's residence over a drug deal. RP 81, 134-5, Ex. 2. It was his idea to go there. RP 130-1. He went armed with a 9 mm handgun. RP 333-4, Ex. 2. Once there, he was told to leave repeatedly but refused to do so. RP 85, 85, 211, 219. During the argument, he or someone else in his group said, "shoot the bitch." RP 84. He was the first to pull out a weapon, his 9 mm pistol. Ex 2 9:38:39 at 0-1 second, RP 320-1, 334. Because the facts were sufficient for a jury to reasonably determine that he provoked the fight, the trial court did not error in giving the first aggressor instruction.

Second, an aggressor instruction is appropriate if there is conflicting evidence as to whether the defendant's conduct precipitated a fight. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 910. At the least, this standard has been met. Dimas argued that he was not told to leave prior to him having his gun out. RP 337. The State presented evidence that he was told repeatedly to leave, refused, and then drew a weapon. RP 85-6, 211, 219, 320-1, Ex 2 9:38:39 at 0-1 second. As such, an aggressor instruction was appropriate, and the trial court did not error.

Third, a first aggressor instruction may be issued in circumstances where the evidence shows that the defendant made the first move by drawing a weapon. *State v. Anderson*, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89, 180 P.3d 885 (2008). Here, before any ax was displayed, Dimas made the first move by drawing his firearm. This is clear from the surveillance video. Ex. 2 9:38:39 at 0-1 seconds. Dimas himself testified that he "kind of pulled the gun out assessing the situation." RP 321. He

stated, "Well, they said they had an ax. You know I kind of just pulled my gun out and put it to the side." RP 322. At this point, he made the first move by drawing a weapon. As such, it was not error to give the instruction.

Each party "is entitled to have the trial court instruct upon its theory of the case if there is evidence to support the theory." *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wash. 2d 176, 191, 721 P.2d 902, 910 (1986). In light of the self-defense instruction given, the absence of an aggressor instruction would have allowed the defendant to argue self-defense and the State would have no instruction supporting its theory. As explained above, there was credible evidence to support the State's theory that Dimas provoked the need to act in self-defense and that Dimas made the first move by drawing a weapon. At the least, conflicting evidence existed as to whether Dimas' conduct precipitated or provoked the fight.

Based on the above analysis, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the first aggressor instruction was appropriate where Dimas, during a heated argument over a drug deal, refused to leave after repeated requests and displayed a firearm. As such, this case does not present a significant question of constitutional interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and the petition for review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the State provided sufficient proof to justify the appellant's convictions.

In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, courts review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). The verdict will be upheld unless no reasonable jury could have found each element proved beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 596-97, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995).

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom.

State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590, 599, 608 P.2d 1254, aff'd, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980). The evidence is interpreted most strongly against the defendant. Id. Evidentiary inferences favoring the defendant are not considered in a sufficiency of the evidence analysis. State v. Jackson, 62 Wn. App. 53, 58 n.2, 813 P.2d 156 (1991). The appellate court defer to the fact finder on issues of witness credibility and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); State v. Carver, 113 Wn.2d 591, 604, 781 P.2d 1308 (1989).

When a defendant raises the issue of self-defense, the State bears the burden of proving the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Acosta*, 101 Wn.2d 612, 615-19, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984). The focus is whether the State presented sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that

Dimas did not reasonably believed he was in danger of imminent harm. *See State v. LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d 896, 899, 913 P.2d 369 (1996). Further, a jury is free to reject a claim of self-defense if they find the defendant to be the initial aggressor. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 909.

When viewed in the light most favorable to the State, the same evidence that supports the giving of the aggressor instruction supports a finding by the jury that Dimas was the first aggressor and not entitled to assert self-defense. Dimas' argument rests solely on his version of the events. However, the State's version supports a finding that Dimas was the initial aggressor. Here, the jury chose not to believe Dimas' version of the events, and the State's evidence was sufficient to overcome his claim of self-defense. As such, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the State provided sufficient proof to justify the appellant's convictions.

C. The Court of Appeals was correct in holding that the prosecutor appropriately argued Dimas had a duty to retreat.

A prosecutor's closing argument is reviewed in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the jury instructions. *Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. at 519. "A prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and to express such inferences to the jury." *Id.* In addition, "[T]he prosecutor, as an advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel." *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87 (citing *United States v. Hiett*, 581 F.2d 1199, 1204 (5th Cir.

1978)). It is not misconduct for a prosecutor to argue merely that the evidence does not support the defense theory. *Id*.

The prosecutor discussed jury instruction number 5 during closing arguments. RP 402-3. This was the instruction regarding the defense that the homicide was lawful. RP 402. In discussing the instruction, the prosecutor went through the entire jury instruction, including the third prong, that "the slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar circumstances as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to him, at the time of and prior to the incident." RP 403-3, CP 119. The prosecutor then stated, "Again, this is somewhat redundant of a similar instruction we discussed whether or not this is the reasonable action. The state's contention is that it's not reasonable when you have an opportunity to leave." RP 404. There was no objection by the defense to this argument.

A defendant who fails to object to an improper remark waives the right to assert prosecutorial misconduct unless the remark was so "flagrant and ill intentioned" that it caused enduring and resulting prejudice that a curative instruction could not have remedied. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995). In fact, the absence of an objection by defense counsel "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the

context of the trial." *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53 n.2, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (citations omitted).

For the first time on appeal, Dimas argued that the prosecutor committed misconduct. This was not a misstatement of the law or the evidence. It was argument. It was part of the State's theory that Dimas was the first aggressor and therefor, not entitled to assert self-defense. And because there was no objection at trial, Dimas must also show that the argument was so "flagrant and ill intentioned" that it caused enduring and resulting prejudice that a curative instruction could not have remedied. In this case, he has not met his burden.

Dimas also argued for the first time that the prosecutor misstated the facts when discussing jury instruction 18, the first aggressor instruction. RP 400-401. The State argued that Dimas provoked the attack. RP 400. The prosecutor pointed out that in response to people telling Dimas to leave, he brought out a firearm. RP 401. Specifically, the prosecutor stated, "In response, you can see he brings out his firearm. He makes no effort to leave." *Id.* There was no objection to this statement. *Id.* This was not a misstatement of the evidence. There was ample testimony that Dimas was told to leave. RP 85-6, 211, 219. The video evidence clearly showed him bringing out a firearm and he admitting to doing so. Ex 2 9:38:39 at 0-1 seconds, RP 320-1.

After stating the facts, the prosecutor posed a question to the jury. His question was, "Would it be reasonable to believe that that would provoke a violent response from a homeowner that's telling you to leave? The [S]tate's

contention is that it is." RP 401. There was no objection made by the defense at this point. *Id.* The prosecutor's question was merely argument, not a statement as to what the evidence is, so it is not a misstatement of any fact. The prosecutor was entitled to argue that Dimas provoked a belligerent response because the evidence supported it. The homeowner displayed an ax after Dimas refuse to leave and displayed a firearm. RP 85-6, 211, 219, 320-1, Ex 2. This was supported by testimony and the surveillance video. *Id.* As such, the prosecutor's argument that Dimas provoked a belligerent response from Hargett was a reasonable inference from the evidence and in no way misstated the facts.

At another point in the State's closing argument, the defense objected when the prosecutor stated:

Ladies and gentlemen, having viewed that video several times, it's your job to decide whether or not this was the necessary force in shooting Anna Hargett. The state's contention is he could have left. He could have walked away.

RP 398-9. At this point, the prosecutor was arguing that the force used by Dimas was not necessary. He was not making any statements about the law. The defense objected, arguing that there is no duty to retreat. RP 399. The court instructed the jury:

Counsel's remarks and statements are argument. They aren't evidence. The jury will need to discern the evidence that it has heard in the course of the trial and apply the law to those facts and reach a verdict in that fashion.

CP 399. Although the court gave a curative instruction, there was no need to do so because the prosecutor did not misstate the evidence or the law.

Whether Dimas was "in a place where that person has a right to be" was an issue at trial and something both parties could address in closing arguments. As explained in the jury instructions, "it is lawful for a person who is in a place where that person has a right to be and who has reasonable grounds for believing that he is being attacked to stand his ground and defend against such attack by the use of lawful force." CP 130 (emphasis added). The prosecutor was permitted to argue that Dimas was not in a place where he was entitled to be and the defense was permitted to argue that he was in a place where he was entitled to be. The purpose of closing arguments is to argue how the facts do or do not support the jury instructions. Here, arguing that Dimas was not in a place he had a right to be was a permissible argument based on the evidence. As indicated by Dimas in his opening brief, the remarks were part of the State's theory that Dimas was a malicious trespasser, justifying the victim's use of the ax and negating Dima's self-defense claim. Appellant's Brief at 32. In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the prosecutor appropriately argued this point to the jury.

In sum, the remarks made by the prosecutor contained permissible arguments based on the evidence. The comments were neither improper nor "flagrant and ill-intentioned." As such, the Court of Appeals was correct in holding that the prosecutor appropriately argued Dimas had a duty to retreat.

D. The Court of Appeals correctly held that an improper remark during closing argument did not warrant reversal because it was adequately addressed by the judge.

In order to establish that he is entitled to a new trial due to prosecutorial misconduct, Dimas must show that the prosecutor's conduct was improper and prejudiced his right to a fair trial. *State v. Boehning,* 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). Prejudice is established where "there is a substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003) (quoting *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), *cert. denied,* 518 U.S. 1026 (1996)). However, prosecutorial misconduct can be cured. For example, an objection and appropriate instruction can cure prejudice caused by a prosecutor's cross-examination. *State v. Stith*, 71 Wn. App. 14, 20, 856 P.2d 415 (1993). Even flagrant misconduct can be cured. *State v. Emery,* 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing *State v. Warren,* 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) ("prosecutor's conduct was certainly flagrant," but given the context of the total argument, issues, evidence, and jury instructions, any error was cured)).

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